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Dear Shareholders, 

I am pleased to provide the 2024 Annual Report for Middle Island Resources, after what has been an 
active year progressing our flagship asset, the Barkly Copper-Gold Project in the Northern Territory.   

Our strategy across our portfolio of assets remains the same – to generate shareholder value via 
exploration success pursuing assets with genuine geological merit with scale and economic potential, 
complimentary assets acquisition or transactional activity. We continue with our focus on copper  and 
gold to generate shareholder value via the discovery of significant deposits. 

The Company looks at and screens corporate opportunities and asset acquisition opportunities 
globally that might complement our existing asset base.  This year we have built on our wider portfolio 
with the submission of eight Exploration Permit for Minerals (EPM) applications prospective for copper-
gold and epithermal-gold style deposits within Queensland, as part of MDI’s project pipeline.   

Barkly, which is prospective for large Iron Oxide Copper Gold (IOCG) and Sediment Hosted Cu-Zn-Pb-
Ag (SedH) deposits, is described as a “Super Project” owing to its significant size (6,918 sq kms 
comprising 14 granted Exploration Licences and 2 Exploration Licence Applications) covering a single 
strategic location, and the large pipeline of significant targets, both in terms of quality and scale, 
contained within it. 

For the past two years, your Company has focused on advancing exploration planning at Barkly. We 
were excited this year when we commenced field programmes at the Project, culminating in our first 
round of drilling at the Georgina Prospect post reporting period. 

Our exploration strategy focus on completing systematic detailed assessment of survey data, 
generated a significant list of 55 exploration targets meriting further screening, geophysics and drilling.  
This result was only possible through the skill, dedication and hard work of the MDI team, and I thank 
them for their commitment. 

MDI remained in a reasonable financial position with cash and share investments held at 30 June 2024 
being $3.27m.Post financial year end, MDI sold its then ~10.5% shareholding in Aurumin Limited 
(ASX:AUN) for a net A$1,440,000 and raised $750,000 before costs via a placement.  MDI thus remains 
in a reasonable financial condition, retains exposure to AUN’s projects via the holding of 5,495,488 
unlisted options to subscribe for shares in AUN - exercise price 6 cents, expiring 22/12/2025 and has 
the serious Barkly project with some interesting tenements in Queensland prospective for copper/gold. 

Middle Island’s team remains focused on delivering excellent quality work pursuing genuine exploration 
outcomes of scale.  

I thank you, our loyal shareholders, for your continued support. 

Peter S Thomas 

Chairman 
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 

Middle Island Resources Limited (MDI, Middle Island or the Company) is a junior exploration company 
targeting high quality copper-gold projects of scale in Australia.  The Company’s flagship asset is the 
Barkly Copper-Gold Super Project, which is prospective for large Iron Oxide Copper Gold (IOCG) and 
Sediment Hosted Cu-Zn-Pb-Ag (SedH) deposits at Tennant Creek and Barkly in the Northern Territory.  

Throughout the year, Middle Island’s main focus was on advancing exploration planning for drilling at 
Barkly, leading to the commencement of the 2024 field programmes, which represented the 
culmination of 2 years’ target generation efforts.  

Beyond the Barkly Copper-Gold Super Project, MDI has eight Exploration Permit for Minerals (EPM) 
applications pending within Queensland.  These associated projects are prospective for copper-gold 
and epithermal-gold style deposits.  

MDI held an interest in Aurumin Limited (ASX:AUN, WA Gold Projects); post the reporting period, the 
Company sold its fully paid shareholding interest in AUN, retaining 5,495,488 unlisted options in AUN 
(exercise price 6 cents, expiring 22/12/2025). MDI also holds (3,444,8500 shares in Tajiri Resources 
(TSX-V:TAJ).  
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Barkly Copper-Gold Super Project, Northern Territory  

The Barkly Super Project comprises 14 granted Exploration Licences and 2 Exploration Licence 
Applications covering a total of approximately 6,918km2.  The Super Project contains multiple project 
areas however during the period under review the Company focused on two key areas:   

 The Barkly Project  

 The Georgina Project  

The Barkly tenements extend from outcropping areas near Tennant Creek and the interpreted eastward 
extensions of prospective Proterozoic stratigraphy that includes the East Tennant Ridge and Burnette 
Downs Rift corridor beneath shallow to moderate depth Georgina Basin cover in the Northern Territory.   

 

The East Tennant corridor has gained recognition as a priority, largely unexplored, IOCG mineral 
province and is also considered to be prospective for other styles of mineralisation including “world-
class” sediment hosted Cu -Zn-Pb-Ag deposits, like those found in the Mt Inlier to the east.   

IOCG Deposits  

IOCG deposits have been MDI’s primary target to date.  Examples of  Australian IOCG deposits include 
Olympic Dam, Prominent Hill, and Carrapateena in South Australia; Ernest Henry in Queensland, and 
Warrego and Juno located to the west of the Barkly Project at Tennant Creek.  

IOCG deposits and alteration surrounding them have elevated levels of iron oxide minerals magnetite 
and hematite, which give rise to elevated magnetic and gravity (density) signatures that can be mapped 
readily with geophysical surveys (magnetics and gravity).   
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The copper-gold mineralisation that makes up the deposits occurs as sulphide minerals with a more 
restricted aerial extent that can commonly be mapped by other geophysical techniques (IP, EM, MT). 
The often-strong geophysical signature of the alteration and mineralisation lends to effective 
explorations under cover, as exists at Barkly.   

Significant examples of ‘blind’ IOCG deposits discovered beneath substantial sedimentary cover 
include BHP’s Olympic Dam and Oak Dam deposits in South Australia, which are respectively overlain 
by approximately 400m and 900m of post-mineralisation cover.   

Sediment Hosted Cu-Zn-Pb-Ag (SedH)  

The corridor is also considered to be prospective for other styles of mineralisation including large 
sediment hosted Cu-Zn-Pb-Ag deposits like those found in the Mt Isa Inlier to the east and southern 
McArthur Basin to the north. Deposit examples include Cannington, Mount Isa, Hilton, George Fisher, 
Lady Loretta, Century, Walford Creek and McArthur (HYC).   

The East Tennant Ridge is fault bound and marks the southern margin to the Burnette Downs rift 
corridor. Palaeoproterozoic sedimentary strata within the rift grabens and onlapping onto the basement 
highs include rocks interpreted to be extensions of the super basins that host many of the listed 
deposits.   

The Company’s Crosswinds Prospect was identified early and stood out by the presence of copper 
mineralisation with rock sample analyses up to 76.25% Cu at surface and was advanced ahead of the 
broader project targeting. Ground gravity surveys, IP geophysical surveys and maiden drilling was 
completed in 2022. It is postulated that the drilling did not test the geophysical anomaly.   

Exploration Strategy  

MDI’s exploration strategy has been to complete systematic detailed assessment of its data from 
surveys (including aeromagnetic, induced polarization (IP)/resistivity and detailed ground gravity -
completed in 2022) over its granted Exploration Licences to enable development of structurally focused 
solid geological interpretations to generate a prioritised target list for the next stage of screening (further 
geophysics or select drilling).   

This strategy resulted in the identification of 55 exploration targets (including Crosswinds) and further 
detailed geophysics surveys (ground gravity) were completed over eight select targets to provide 
sufficient resolution to resolve drillholes to test those targets.    

Geophysics & Targeting   

Early in 2024, Middle Island completed modelling of detailed gravity survey data collected or collated 
across priority targets identified in 2023, which established well-defined density anomalies (‘shoots’) 
consistent with the densities, size and geometries of known examples of the target deposit types.    

As such, the Company advanced six areas to Prospect status, with well-defined drill targets being:  

 Dino Prospect  

 Pebbles Prospect  

 Wilma Prospect  

 Redrock Prospect  

 Tumbleweed Prospect  

 Bedrock Prospect  
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Added to the Crosswinds Prospect, the Company now has a total of seven prospect areas and 40+ 
targets within the Barkly Super Project currently in its focus for exploration.  

 

Middle Island identified eight new high priority drill targets for drilling.  The new drill targets are ‘blind’ 
beneath post-mineralisation cover, each representing a potentially significant new discovery.   
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Crosswinds Prospect  

During the first half of the reporting period, Middle Island carried out multiple exploration programmes 
at the Crosswinds Prospect including field review and soil sampling orientation surveys.    

At Crosswinds, a surface occurrence of copper (malachite) identified in late 2020 returned spot pXRF 
results between 24.8% and 76.25% Cu; chip sampling of the occurrence returned a composite sample 
assay of 130m at 0.76% Cu by Intertek. Detailed geophysics was conducted over the prospect in 2022 
by MDI that included airborne magnetics; five lines (28.5 kms) of Induced Polarisation (IP)/Resistivity by 
Planetary Geophysics Pty Ltd; and detailed ground gravity (2,016stations) by Atlas Geophysics. The 
geophysics mapped features that may indicate the presence of sulphide mineralisation (notably a 
strong chargeability anomaly at depth).   

Four drill holes were completed in 2022 as a first-pass test of the identified targets directed primarily at 
gaining an understanding of the geology. No economic mineralisation was recorded in the drilling; 
however, the peak of the IP chargeability anomaly and the area of surface copper occurrence was not 
intersected in the drilling and further work is required.  

Post Period Drill Programme   

Post financial year end, Middle Island commenced its maiden three-hole diamond drill programme at 
the Georgina Project targeting IOCG at the Wilma, Pebbles and Dino Prospects. The programme was 
completed in August 2024 (see below Co-Funding Grant).   

Results from this drilling programme will provide MDI valuable information to assist in refining the next 
round of drilling. Drill programmes at Barkly are being conducted in stages, with another round of drilling 
proposed, weather and contractor availability permitting, for the Bedrock Prospect in the latter part of 
2024 (recipient of the second co-funding grant).  
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Additional field surveys, over the next round of priority targets, that include soil sampling and further 
ground geophysical surveys (gravity), are also planned.  

Co-Funding Grant   

Middle Island was awarded the maximum $300,000 in aggregate under two co-funding grants under 
Round 17 of the Northern Territory Government’s Geophysics and Drilling Collaborations (“GDC”) 
program (see ASX release dated 12 June 2024).   

The GDC program is a competitive program funded by the Northern Territory Government as part of the 
Resourcing the Territory initiative, administered by the Northern Territory Geological Survey.   

The details of the two grants are as follows:   

 $125,000 (inclusive of GST) towards co-funding of three diamond drillholes; the first-round test 
of a spread of IOCG targets at the Wilma, Pebbles and Dino prospects within the Georgina 
Project area (EL32109); and    

  $175,000 (inclusive of GST) towards co-funding of one deep diamond drillhole; the first-round 
test of one of the SedH targets at the Bedrock prospect within the Barkly Project area (EL33588).  
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Your directors submit their report on the consolidated entity (referred to hereafter as the Group) which 
consists of Middle Island Resources Limited and the entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the 
year ended 30 June 2024. 

DIRECTORS 

The names and details of the Company’s directors in office during the year and until the date of this 
report follow.  Each Director was in the office for this entire period unless otherwise stated. 

Names, qualifications, experience and special responsibilities 

Peter Thomas (Non-Executive Chairman) 

Comes from a legal background specialising in resources and corporate. For over 30 years, before 
retiring from legal practice, he specialised in the delivery of wide ranging legal, corporate, and 
commercial advice to listed explorers and miners. Mr Thomas is now a professional director leveraging 
his legal background whilst delivering the insight of his commercial acumen and business expertise.  

For nearly 40 years he has served on the boards of various listed companies including being the 
founding chairman of both copper producer Sandfire Resources NL (2004) and mineral sands producer 
Image Resources NL. Other current ASX listed company board positions include being a non-executive 
director of Image Resources NL (since 19 April 2002) and non-executive chair of Emu NL (since 
29 August 2007). 

Bradley Marwood (Non-Executive Director) 

Mr Marwood is a mining engineer and a highly experienced resources executive with more than 30 years 
of experience. He was instrumental in bringing into production the copper mines at Kipoi (DRC) and 
Rapu (Philippines); completing development of the Svartliden gold mine (Sweden) and has managed 
numerous Feasibility Studies and advanced stage resource projects in Australia, Africa, North America 
and Asia. 

He has worked in senior roles for groups such as Normandy, Dragon Mining, Lafayette, Moto Goldmines 
and Perseus Mining before his most recent as Managing Director of Tiger Resources Limited. Mr 
Marwood’s involvement has seen growth in several companies with a significant increase in their 
market capitalisation and by protecting investments through restarting suspended mine projects. He is 
currently the managing director of ASX-listed Yari Minerals Limited and non-executive director of Inca 
Resources Limited (appointed 16 May 2024).) 

Bruce Stewart (Non-Executive Director) 

Mr Stewart has been involved with global capital markets for 30 years, with an emphasis on mining and 
hard assets. His experience includes co-heading a global hard asset desk in New York City for Jefferies 
& Co, directorships on London listed mining companies, company reorganisation and sale, and various 
consultancy assignments from funds, investment banks and public and private companies. 

CEO -Roland Bartsch 

Mr Bartsch is the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and is a geologist with 35 years’ experience in 
exploration and operations and most recently was Vice President and Country Manager Australia for 
Copper Mountain Mining Pty Ltd where he managed all aspects of exploration and pre-development of 
its Mt Isa Inlier Copper-Gold projects in Queensland, that included the Eva Copper Project. The Project 
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is a cluster of Iron Oxide Copper Gold (IOCG) deposits that Roland managed from early assessment 
through to a shovel ready project. 

Roland brings to MDI a wealth of experience exploring for IOCG deposits and substantial success in his 
endeavours to date. MDI has a substantial holding in the Barkly Tablelands, 200km east of Tennent 
Creek, Northern Territory where it’s actively exploring for ICOG deposits. 

Company Secretary - Rudolf Tieleman 

Mr Tieleman is an accountant and corporate administrator with over 40 years’ experience in public 
practice. He has extensive knowledge in matters relating to the operation and administration of listed 
mining companies in Australia. 

Interests in the shares and options of the Company and related bodies corporate 

As at the date of this report, the relevant interests of the directors in the securities of Middle Island 
Resources Limited were: 
 Ordinary Shares Options 

Peter Thomas 4,935,491 3,645,164 
Brad Marwood 276,716 2,092,239 
Bruce Stewart 3,300,000 3,100,000 

FINANCIAL REVIEW 

During the year, the Company received interest of $69,976 (2023: $31,461).  

In the previous year (ended 30 June 2023), exploration grants were received from the Northern Territory 
Government (2023:$131,057), and minor sales of office equipment (2023: $677). 

During the year, total exploration expenditure incurred by the Group amounted to $921,933 
(2023: $1,590,456). In line with the Group’s accounting policies, all exploration expenditures were 
written off as they were incurred. A net recovery of $312,323 (2023: A charge of $2,919,672) was also 
booked in relation to the increase (2023: diminution) in fair value of financial assets held. Other 
expenditure incurred amounted to $1,122,494 (2023: $948,995). 

This resulted in an operating loss from continuing operations after income tax for the year ended 30 June 
2024 of $1,662,093 (2023: $5,295,928). 

At 30 June 2024, cash assets ($1,702,171) and realisable investments in quoted securities ($1,651,942) 
totalled $3,354,113. 

Dividends 

No dividends were paid or declared during the year.  No recommendation for payment of dividends has 
been made. 
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Operating Results for the Year 

Summarised operating results are as follows: 2024 

 Revenue 
$ 

Loss 
$ 

Revenue and loss for the year from ordinary activities before income 
tax expense 

382,299 (1,662,093) 

 

Shareholder Returns 2024 2023 

Basic loss per share (cents) (0.89) (4.33) 

Risk Management 

The board is responsible for ensuring that risks and opportunities are identified on a timely basis, and 
that activities are aligned with the risks and opportunities identified . 

The Group believes that it is crucial for all board members to be a part of this process, and as such, the 
board has not established a separate risk management committee.  Where appropriate, the board 
enlists the support of other suitably qualified professionals to join board committees. 

The board has mechanisms in place to ensure that management's objectives and activities are aligned 
with the risks identified by the board.  These mechanisms include the following: 

 Board approval of a strategic plan, which encompasses strategy statements designed 
to meet stakeholders’ needs and manage business risk. 

 Implementation of board approved operating plans and budgets and board monitoring 
of progress against these budgets. 

 A risk matrix designed to identify and quantify the various risk factors and implement 
mitigating strategies accordingly. 

 Regular review of management’s activities and the Company’s circumstances. 

 Continuing review of capital and resources market sentiment. 

 Continuing review of economic trends and circumstances. 

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS 

Other than as disclosed in this Annual Report, no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group 
occurred during the financial year. 

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE DATE 

Since the end of the reporting period, MDI: 

 sold all its fully paid ordinary shares in Aurumin Limited (AUN) for a net amount of $1,440,000. The 
Company retains 5,495,488 unlisted options in AUN (exercise price of 6 cents, expiring 
22 December 2025); and 

 placed 50M fully paid ordinary shares (New Shares) at 1.5 cents ($0.015) with the placement being 
conducted within the Company’s existing ASX Listing Rule 7.1 and 7.1A placement capacities, 
resulting in a capital raise of $750K (before costs). There is an expectation that the balance of the 
placement capacities will be placed, raising a further ~$69K. It has been agreed that the lead broker 
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will be issued with 10M unlisted options (New Options) subject to shareholder approval being 
obtained in a general meeting of shareholders. These New Options will be exercisable at 3.0 cents 
($0.03) each, on or before a date which is two years from their date of issue. The New Shares are 
expected to be issued on or about 8 October. 

No other matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the year which significantly affected or 
may significantly affect the operations of the Group, the results of those operations, or the state of 
affairs of the Group in future financial periods. 

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND EXPECTED RESULTS 

The Barkly Copper-Gold Super Project has been progressed from the focus being advancement of 
exploration targeting and planning to the commencement of drill testing of the more advanced 
numerous priority targets. The data being collected from the two drillholes completed post reporting 
period will provide significant information that will aid to refine the defined drill targets and next steps, 
increasing the opportunity for exploration success.  

Work on new projects is expected to commence. During the period under review, the Company was 
predominantly single district focused upon its significant position at Barkly whilst also applying for eight 
Exploration Permit for Minerals (EPM) applications in Queensland covering some interesting ground 
prospective for gold and copper. Exploration activities will commence on these new areas as they 
advance to grant.  Since the end of the reporting period, two of these EPMs were granted and the grant 
process for the remainder is expected to take another 6-18 months. Historical data compilation and 
targeting is expected to be completed in 2024 on the two new granted EPMs, one which covers the 
historical Ridgeland’s Goldfield. Landholder access agreements and reconnaissance fieldwork is 
expected to commence on the two granted EPMs in 2025. 

The Company will continue to review projects with a view to identifying potential value add mineral 
asset acquisitions or grassroots project generation.  

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION AND PERFORMANCE 

The Group is subject to significant environmental regulation in respect to its activities. 

The Group aims to ensure the appropriate standard of environmental care is achieved, and in doing so, 
that it is aware of, and is in compliance with, all environmental legislation.  The directors of the 
Company are not aware of any breach of environmental legislation for the year under review. 

REMUNERATION REPORT (Audited) 

The information provided in this remuneration report has been audited as required by section 308(3C) 
of the Corporations Act 2001. 

Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration 

Remuneration Policy 

The remuneration policy of Middle Island Resources Limited is intended to align key management 
personnel objectives with shareholder and business objectives by providing a fixed remuneration 
component and offering, variously, short-term and long-term securities incentives.  The board’s policy 
is to design remuneration with a view to attracting and retaining suitable key management personnel to 
run and manage the Group. 
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The remuneration policy setting the terms and conditions for the executive directors and other senior 
executives, was developed by the board and evolves as circumstances require.  All executives receive 
a base salary (based on factors such as experience), superannuation, and possibly a package of equity 
incentives in the Company.  The board reviews each executive package as and when it considers it 
appropriate to do so in accordance with its remuneration policy and by reference to the Group’s fiscal 
wherewithal, performance, the executive’s performance and comparable information from industry 
sectors and other listed companies operating in similar circumstances.  The board may exercise 
discretion in relation to approving incentives, bonuses and options.  The policy is to design 
remunerative packages that reward executives for performance which is aligned to producing results in 
long-term growth in shareholder wealth.  The result can be that shareholder sentiment is tested in 
general meeting, or in deference to expressed and perceived shareholder sentiment, otherwise 
proposed and preferred remunerative emoluments are not put to shareholders and thus not provided 
to employees. 

Superannuation guarantee contributions, as required to be paid by Commonwealth legislation (11.0% 
for the 2024 financial year), are paid to all employees (including directors), however directors are not 
entitled to receive other retirement benefits. 

All remuneration paid to directors and executives is “valued” at the cost to the Group and expensed.  
Options, when granted, are to be ascribed a “fair value” in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards using a methodology such as Black-Scholes. The board does not accept that the “fair value” 
necessarily represents market or realisable value. Rather, the board uses a commonly accepted 
methodology purely for the purposes of complying with the Australian Accounting Standards. 

The board’s policy is to remunerate non-executive directors at market rates for comparable companies, 
for time, commitment and responsibilities. The board determines payments to the non-executive 
directors and reviews their remuneration annually, based on market practice, duties, special exertion 
services and accountability.  Independent external advice is sought as and when required.  The 
maximum aggregate annual amount of fees that can be paid to non-executive directors is, subject to 
change with the approval of shareholders in general meeting, currently set at $300,000.  Non-executive 
directors fees are not linked to the performance of the Group.  However, to align directors’ interests 
with shareholder interests, the directors are encouraged to hold shares in the Company, and subject to 
shareholder approval in general meeting, may be offered participation in incentive equity 
arrangements. 

Performance based remuneration  

The Group policy allows the use of performance-based remuneration, to attract and motivate 
employees, including options.  Employee share plans will be implemented when considered necessary.  
Where utilised, equity remuneration may be issued, but not vest until certain hurdles have been met or 
if vested ab initio may be subject to divestment, where the hurdles/triggers are directed at advancing 
the Company.  

Company performance, shareholder wealth and key management personnel remuneration 

No direct relationship exists between key management personnel remuneration and Group 
performance (including shareholder wealth). 
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Voting and comments made at the Company’s 2023 Annual General Meeting 

The Company’s AGM poll results showed that approximately 94.08% votes were cast in favour of its 
remuneration report for the 2023 financial year. 

Details of remuneration 

Details of the remuneration of the directors and the key management personnel of the Group are set 
out in the following table. 

Key management personnel (KMP) of the Group 

 

Short-Term 
Salary and 

Fees 
$ 

Post-
Employment 
Superannuati

on 
$ 

Special 
Exertion 

Payments(1) 
$ 

Share Based 
Payments 

Total 
$ 

Directors:      
Peter Thomas      
    2024 60,274 6,630 - 5,800 72,704 
    2023 60,274 6,329 - - 66,603 
Brad Marwood       
    2024 40,000 - - 5,800 45,800 
    2023 116,581 11,541 - - 128,122 
Bruce Stewart      
    2024 32,000 - 40,000 5,800 77,800 
    2023 40,000 - 60,000 - 100,000 
CEO:      
Roland Bartsch      
    2024 300,000 33,000 - 15,953 348,953 
    2023 75,000 7,875 - - 82,875 
Company Secretary:      
Rudolf Tieleman      
    2024 100,000 - - 3,770 103,770 
    2023 100,000 - - - 100,000 
Total KMP Compensation:      
    2024 532,274 39,630 40,000 37,123 649,027 
    2023 391,855 25,745 60,000 - 477,600 

(1) The Company’s Constitution makes provision for the payment to directors who perform “extra” or “special services”. 
During the year, the “disinterested” board members (and in Mr Stewart’s absence) agreed to remunerate Mr Stewart 
for special exertion services to be provided for the period ended 31 December 2023 at a monthly rate of $10k 
(inclusive of his non-executive director’s fees). After that date, and with a view to preserving the Company’s cash 
resources, he agreed to be remunerated for his ordinary directorial services at the rate of $2,000/month. The board 
has resolved to preserve the discretion to allow an award for special exertion services where that discretion will take 
on board outcomes and deliveries on effort – that is, there is no entitlement to reward for special exertion services for 
the period commencing 1 January 2024 until the end of this reporting period as directors have agreed to subjugate 
their constitutional rights during that period in favour of a board discretion, with any award being determined in 
hindsight and guided by outcomes. 

Use of remuneration consultants 

The Group did not employ the services of any remuneration consultants during the financial year ended 
30 June 2024.  
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Service agreements 

Roland Bartsch, Chief Executive Officer: 

 Term of agreement is effective from 1 April 2023. The agreement can be terminated by either the 
Company or Mr Bartsch giving three months’ written notice (shorter notice periods apply in the 
event breach of contract by either party).  No benefits are payable on termination. 

 The following options were issued to Mr Bartsch with shareholder approval: 

o 5,000,000 options, exercisable into fully paid ordinary shares at $0.075 each, vesting 
twelve months after date of acceptance of employment and exercisable, once vested, 
by 30.11.2026; and 

o 2,000,000 options, exercisable into fully paid ordinary shares at $0.0225 each, and 
exercisable by 31.5.2025. 

Rudolf Tieleman, Company Secretary from 1 November 2021: 

 Term of agreement – Commenced 1 November 2021 and continues until terminated in 
writing by either party. 

 A monthly retainer of $8,333.34 for two days worked per week (with any additional work 
performed being chargeable at $120 per hour) is payable until either the Company or Mr 
Tieleman gives one month’s written notice (shorter notice periods apply in the event 
breach of contract by either party). No benefits are payable on termination other than 
contractual entitlements accrued to the date of termination. 

 The following options were issued to Mr Tieleman with shareholder approval: 

o 1,300,000 options, exercisable into fully paid ordinary shares at $0.0225 each, and 
exercisable by 31.5.2025. 

Bruce Stewart 

During the year, the “disinterested” board members (and in Mr Stewart’s absence) agreed to extend Mr 
Stewart’s remuneration for special exertion services until 31 December 2023 at a monthly rate of $10k 
(inclusive of his non-executive director’s fees). It was also agreed that conditional upon two separate 
milestones being met, he would be paid two additional bonuses of $12k each in respect of each of those 
milestones being individually met. As at the date of this report, the latest date for satisfaction of each 
of those milestones has expired resulting in no bonus being payable. 

Others 

Messrs Thomas and Marwood did not have a service agreement in place during the year save to the 
extent the constitution comprises the same. 

Share-based compensation 

Options may be issued to key management personnel as part of their remuneration.  The Group has a 
formal policy in relation to the key management personnel limiting their exposure to risk in relation to 
the securities which actively discourages key management personnel from granting mortgages over 
securities held in the Group. 

As part of Mr Bartsch (CEO) remuneration package, the Company agreed to issue him with 5,000,000 
options to acquire fully paid shares on the following basis: 
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o To be issued immediately upon receiving shareholder approval (obtained 30.11.2023); 
o Exercisable at $0.075 each; 
o Vest on a date which is twelve (12) months after 1 April 2023; and 
o Be exercisable after vesting on a date which is the earlier of three (3) years from their 

date of issue, now determined to be 30 November 2026, or date of cessation of 
employment. 

Subsequent to shareholder approval being obtained at the Company’s AGM, the following options 
were granted to and vested in key management personnel during the year: 

Options to acquire fully paid ordinary shares, exercisable at $0.0225 each on or before 31 May 
2025: 

 Directors – 6,000,000  
 CEO and company secretary – 3,300,000 

No ordinary shares in the Company were issued as a result of the exercise of remuneration options 
during the year. 

Equity instruments held by key management personnel 

Direct and indirect interests in ordinary shares 

 Balance at 
start of the 

period Acquisitions Disposals 

Balance at 
end of the 

period 

Directors of Middle Island Resources 
Limited 

    

Peter Thomas 3,290,327 1,645,164 - 4,935,491 
Brad Marwood 184,477 92,239 - 276,716 
Bruce Stewart 2,200,000 1,100,000 - 3,300,000 

CEO     
Roland Bartsch 1,000,000 733,334 - 1,733,334 

 

Direct and indirect interests in options 

Directors of Middle Island Resources 
Limited 

    

Peter Thomas -  3,645,164 - 3,645,164 
Brad Marwood -  2,092,239 - 2,092,239 
Bruce Stewart -  3,100,000 - 3,100,000 

CEO     
Roland Bartsch -  7,000,000 - 7,000,000 
     
Company Secretary     
Rudolf Tieleman -  1,300,000 - 1,300,000 

Loans to key management personnel 

There were no loans to key management personnel during the year. 
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Other transactions with key management personnel 

During both the current and the comparative year, Mr Stewart was paid the amounts detailed above in 
the Remuneration Report for the provision of special exertion services provided to the Group. The 
amounts paid were assessed as being less than that which would have been payable on arms’ length 
commercial terms.  

End of audited section 

A – Number of meetings attended. 
B – Number of meetings held during the time the director held office during the year.  
* – Not a member of the relevant committee. 

SHARES UNDER OPTION 

Other than as set out above or elsewhere in this annual report, no options have been granted over 
unissued shares or interests of any controlled entity within the Group during or since the end of the 
reporting period. 

INSURANCE OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 

During or since the financial year, in accordance with each director’s Deed of Indemnity, Insurance and 
Access with Middle Island Resources Limited, the Group has paid premiums insuring all the directors 
of Middle Island Resources Limited against all liabilities incurred by the director acting directly or 
indirectly as a director of the Company to the extent permitted by law, including legal costs incurred by 
the director in defending proceedings, provided that the liabilities for which the director is to be insured 
do not arise out of conduct involving a wilful breach of the director’s duty to the Company or a 
contravention of sections 182 or 183 of the Corporations Act 2001. 

The total amount of insurance contract premiums paid is $18,965. 

NON-AUDIT SERVICES 

The entity's auditor, Elderton Audit Pty Ltd or any of its associated entities, have not been retained to 
provide any non-audit services during the year. 

  

DIRECTORS' MEETINGS 

During the year, the Company held five meetings of directors. The attendance of directors at meetings 
of the board and committees were: 

 Directors Meetings Committee Meetings 
  Audit Remuneration 

 A B A B A B 
Peter Thomas 7 7 2 2 - - 
Brad Marwood 7 7 2 2 - - 
Bruce Stewart 7 7 2 2 * * 
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PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF THE COMPANY 

No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring 
proceedings on behalf of the Company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the Company is a 
party, for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Company for all or any part of those 
proceedings.  

No proceedings have been brought or intervened in on behalf of the Company with leave of the Court 
under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001. 

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 

A copy of the auditor's independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations 
Act 2001 is set out on page 21. 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors. 

 

Peter Thomas 

Chairperson 

Perth, 30 September 2024 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



AUDIT INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION  

Page | 21 

 
 
 

Auditor's Independence Declaration 

 

To those charged with governance of Middle Island Resources Limited 

As auditor for the audit of Middle Island Resources Limited for the year ended 30 June 2024, I 
declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been: 

i. no contraventions of the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in 
relation to the audit; and 

ii. no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the 
audit. 

This declaration is in respect of Middle Island Resources Limited and the entities it controlled 
during the year. 

Signature of Elderton Audit Pty Ltd noted as having been affixed with approval 
Elderton Audit Pty Ltd 

Signature of Sajjay Cheema noted as having been affixed with approval 
Sajjay Cheema 
Director 

Perth 

30 September 2024 
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CONSOLIDATED ENTITY DISCLOSURE STATEMENT 

Name of 
Entity 

Type of 
Entity 

Trustee,  

Partner or 
Participant 

in  

Joint 
Venture 

% of 
Share 

Capital 
Held 

Country of 
Incorporation 

Australian 
Resident 

or Foreign 
Resident 

(for tax 
purposes) 

Foreign Tax 
Jurisdiction(s) 

of Foreign 
Residents 

Middle Island 
Resources 
Limited 

Body 
Corporate 

N/A N/A Australia Australia N/A 

Barkly 
Operations 
Pty Ltd 

Body 
Corporate 

N/A 100% Australia Australia N/A 

MDI 
(Queensland) 
Pty Ltd 

Body 
Corporate 

N/A 100% Australia Australia N/A 

 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

Middle Island Resources Limited reviews its corporate governance practices against the Corporate 
Governance Principles and Recommendations (4th edition) published by the ASX Corporate Governance 
Council. 

The 2024 Corporate Governance Statement was approved by the board on 30 September 2024.  

A description of the Group’s current corporate governance practices is set out in the Group’s Corporate 
Governance Statement which can be viewed at www.middleisland.com.au.  
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Notes 
2024 

$ 
2023 

$ 

CONTINUED OPERATIONS    
REVENUE    
Other income 4 69,976 163,195 
Fair value increase on financial assets  312,323 - 
OPERATING EXPENDITURE    
Administrative expenses  (435,993) (412,915) 
Depreciation expense 5 (33,193) (33,913) 
Exploration expenses  (921,933) (1,590,456) 
Fair value (losses) on financial assets  - (2,919,672) 
Salaries and employee benefits expense  (616,150) (502,167) 
KMP share-based payments 27 (37,123) - 

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX  (1,662,093) (5,295,928) 

INCOME TAX BENEFIT/(EXPENSE) 6 -  -  

NET LOSS from Continuing Operations, Net of 
tax  (1,662,093) (5,295,928) 
   
OTHER Comprehensive Income   

NET COMPREHENSIVE INCOME for the year, 
Net of tax -  -  

    
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR 
THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF 
MIDDLE ISLAND RESOURCES LIMITED  (1,662,093) (5,295,928) 

    
Basic and diluted profit per share from 
continued operations (cents per share) 26 (0.89) (4.33) 
 
The above Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income should be 
read in conjunction with the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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Notes 

2024 
$ 

 2023 
$ 

CURRENT ASSETS     
Cash and cash equivalents 7 1,702,171  2,659,333 
Trade and other receivables 8 113,564  68,756 
Financial assets  9 1,651,942  117,231 
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS  3,467,677  2,845,320 
     
NON-CURRENT ASSETS     
Plant and equipment 11 17,595  46,577 
Financial assets 10 -   1,085,000 
Tenement acquisition costs 13 638,400  - 
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSSETS  655,995  1,131,577 
TOTAL ASSETS  4,123,672  3,976,897 
     
CURRENT LIABILITIES     
Trade and other payables 14 112,934  92,514 
Employee benefit obligations  38,582  14,464 
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES  151,516  106,978 
     
TOTAL LIABILITIES  151,516  106,978 
NET ASSETS  3,972,156  3,869,919 

     
EQUITY     
Contributed equity 16 50,332,408  48,611,091 
Reserves 17 43,013  -  
Accumulated losses  (46,403,265)  (44,741,172) 
TOTAL EQUITY  3,972,156  3,869,919 

 
The above Consolidated Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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Notes 
Contributed 

Equity 

Share-based 
Payments 

Reserve 
Accumulated 

Losses 
Total 

 

  $ $ $ $ 
 
BALANCE AT 30 JUNE 2022 48,611,091 - (39,445,244) 9,165,847 
Loss for the year from continuing operations - - (5,295,928) (5,295,928) 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME - - - - 
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME - - - - 
TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS IN THEIR CAPACITY AS 
OWNERS - - - - 
BALANCE AT 30 JUNE 2023 48,611,091 - (44,741,172) 3,869,919 
 
 
BALANCE AT 30 JUNE 2023 48,611,091 - (44,741,172) 3,869,919 
Loss for the year from continuing operations - - (1,662,093) (1,727,093) 
Other comprehensive Income - - - - 
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME - - - - 
TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS IN THEIR CAPACITY AS 
OWNERS - - - - 
Issue of shares and options 1,796,337 - - 1,796,337 
Share and option issue costs (75,020)   (75,020) 
KMP and other share-based payments - 43,013  43,013 
BALANCE AT 30 JUNE 2024 50,332,408 43,013 (46,403,265) 3,972,156 
 
The above Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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 Notes 
2024 

$ 
 2023 

$ 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES     
Receipts from customers  -  245,719 
Payments to suppliers and employees   (1,040,544)  (903,346) 
Expenditure on mining interests  (895,448)  (1,610,021) 
Interest received  69,976  31,461 

NET CASH OUTFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 25 (1,866,016)  (2,236,187) 

     
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES     
Proceeds on sale of fixed assets  -  585 
Payment for share investment  (137,387)  - 
Payment for tenement bonds  (38,355)  - 
Payments for property, plant and equipment  (4,211)  - 

NET CASH (OUTFLOW)/INFLOW FROM INVESTING 
ACTIVITIES  (179,953)  585 

     
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES     
Proceeds from new share issued  1,157,937  - 
Share issue expenses  (69,130)  - 

NET CASH INFLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  1,088,807  -  

     
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH 
EQUIVALENTS  

(957,162)  (2,235,602) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 
financial year  2,659,333  4,894,935 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE 
YEAR 7 1,702,171 

 
2,659,333 

 

The above Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the Notes to 
the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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1:   SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out 
below.  The financial statements are for the consolidated entity consisting of Middle Island Resources 
Limited and its subsidiaries.  The financial statements are presented in Australian currency.  Middle 
Island Resources Limited is a company limited by shares, domiciled and incorporated in Australia.  The 
financial statements were authorised for issue by the directors on 30 September 2024.  The directors 
have the power to amend and reissue the financial statements. 

(a) Basis of preparation 

These general-purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board and 
the Corporations Act 2001.  Middle Island Resources Limited is a for-profit entity for the purpose of 
preparing the financial statements. 

(i)  Compliance with IFRS 

The consolidated financial statements of the Middle Island Resources Limited Group also comply with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (IASB). 

(ii)  New and amended standards adopted by the Group 

The Group has adopted all the new, revised or amending Accounting Standards and Interpretations 
issued by the AASB that are relevant to its operations and effective for the current annual reporting 
period. The Group did not have to change its accounting policies or make retrospective adjustments as 
a result of adopting these standards.  

(iii)  New standards and interpretations not yet adopted 

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 
30 June 2024 reporting periods and have not been early adopted by the Group. The Group’s assessment 
of the impact of these new standards and interpretations is that they are not expected to have a material 
impact on the entity in the current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions. 

(iv)  Historical cost convention 

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for certain 
financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value. 

(v) Going concern 

The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis, which contemplates the 
continuity of normal business activities and the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities in the 
normal course of business. 

As disclosed in the financial statements, the Group incurred a loss of $1,662,093 and had net operating 
cash outflows of $1,866,016. These conditions indicate a material uncertainty that may cast significant 
doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

The ability of the entity to continue as a going concern is dependent on securing additional capital 
raising activities to continue its operational and exploration activities. 

Should the entity not be able to continue as a going concern, it may be required to realise its assets and 
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discharge its liabilities other than in the ordinary course of business, and at amounts that differ from 
those stated in the financial statements and that the financial report does not include any adjustments 
relating to the recoverability and classification of recorded asset amounts or liabilities that might be 
necessary should the entity not continue as a going concern. 

(b)  Principles of consolidation 

(i)  Subsidiaries 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of Middle 
Island Resources Limited (“Company” or “parent entity”) as at 30 June 2024 and the results of all 
subsidiaries for the year then ended. Middle Island Resources Limited and its subsidiaries together are 
referred to in these financial statements as the Group or the consolidated entity. 

Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose entities) over which the Group has the power to 
govern the financial and operating policies, generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one-
half of the voting rights.  The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable 
or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group controls another entity. 

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group.  They are 
de-consolidated from the date that control ceases.  A list of controlled entities is disclosed in Note 23 
to the financial statements. 

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations by the Group. 
Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies 
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the 
impairment of the asset transferred.  Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where 
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group. 

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in 
equity and statement of financial position respectively. 

(ii)  Changes in ownership interests 

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control as 
transactions with equity owners of the Group.  A change in ownership interest results in an adjustment 
between the carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect their relative 
interests in the subsidiary.  Any difference between the amount of the adjustment to non-controlling 
interests and any consideration paid or received is recognised in a separate reserve within equity 
attributable to owners of Middle Island Resources Limited. 

When the Group ceases to have control, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value 
with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss.  The fair value is the initial carrying 
amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, jointly 
controlled entity or financial asset.  In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the group had directly disposed 
of the related assets or liabilities.  This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss. 

If the ownership interest in a jointly controlled entity or associate is reduced but joint control or 
significant influence is retained, only a proportionate share of the amounts previously recognised in 
other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.  
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(c)  Segment reporting 

An operating segment is defined as a component of an entity that engages in business activities from 
which it may earn revenues and incur expenses, whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the 
entity's chief operating decision maker to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the 
segment and assess its performance, and for which discrete financial information is available. 

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief 
operating decision maker.  The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for allocating 
resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the full Board 
of Directors. 

(d)  Foreign currency translation 

(i)  Functional and presentation currency 

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the 
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’).  
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is Middle Island 
Resources Limited's functional and presentation currency. 

(ii)  Transactions and balances 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates 
prevailing at the dates of the transactions.  Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the 
settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year end exchange rates of monetary assets 
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss. They are deferred in 
equity if they are attributable to part of the net investment in a foreign operation. 

(iii)  Group companies 

The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the currency of a 
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are 
translated into the presentation currency as follows: 

 assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at 
the closing rate at the date of that statement of financial position; 

 income and expenses for each statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income are translated at average exchange rates (unless that is not a reasonable 
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, 
in which case income and expenses are translated at the dates of the transactions); and 

 all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income. 

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of any net investment in foreign 
entities, and of borrowings and other financial instruments designated as hedges of such investments, 
are recognised in other comprehensive income.  When a foreign operation is sold or any borrowings 
forming part of the net investment are repaid, the associated exchange differences are reclassified to 
profit or loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale. 
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(e)  Revenue recognition 

Sale of commodities 

Revenue from sales is recognised when the Group satisfies its performance obligations under its 
contract by transferring such goods to the customer’s control. Control is generally determined to be 
when the customer has the ability to direct the use of and obtain substantially all of the remaining 
benefits from that good.  

Interest 

Interest revenue is recognised on a time proportionate basis that considers the effective yield on the 
financial assets. 

Other income 

All other income is recognised when the right to receive other income is established. 

All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax. 

(f)  Government grants 

Grants from the government, including exploration incentives, are recognised at their fair value where 
there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be received, and the Group will comply with all 
attached conditions. Grants relating to expense items are recognised as income over the periods 
necessary to match the grant to the costs it is compensating. Grants relating to assets are credited to 
deferred income at fair value and are credited to income over the expected useful life of the asset on a 
straight-line basis. 

(g)  Income tax 

The income tax expense or revenue for the year is the tax payable on the current year’s taxable income 
based on the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets 
and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax losses. 

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively 
enacted at the end of the reporting period in the countries where the Company operates and generates 
taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to 
situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation and considers whether it is 
probable that a taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment. The Company measures its 
tax balances either based on the most likely amount or the expected value, depending on which method 
provides a better prediction of the resolution of the uncertainty. 

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial 
statements.  However, the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition 
of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the 
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.  Deferred income tax is determined 
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the reporting date and are 
expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised, or the deferred income tax 
liability is settled. 
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Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if 
it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and 
losses. 

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying 
amount and tax bases of investments in controlled entities where the parent entity is able to control the 
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse 
in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current 
tax assets and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority.  
Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset 
and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items 
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.  In this case, the tax is also recognised 
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively. No deferred tax is recognised for the 
carried forward losses as the Group considers there will be no taxable profit available to offset such 
brought forward tax losses in the future. 

(h) Leases 

The Group leased office premises with a three-year term that expired during the previous year. Upon 
commencement of the lease the Group recognised a lease liability for this lease, measured at the 
present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the Group’s incremental borrowing 
rate, being 10%. 

Where the Group is lessee, the Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at 
the date at which the lease asset is available for use by the Group. Each lease payment is allocated 
between the liability and the finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease 
period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for 
each period. The right-of-use asset is depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease 
term on a straight-line basis. 

Liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include 
the net present value of the following lease payments: 

 fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable; 

 variable lease payments that are based on an index or a rate; 

 amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees; 

 the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option; 
and 

 payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising that 
option. 

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be 
determined, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the lessee would have 
to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value in a similar economic 
environment with similar terms and conditions. 
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The Group’s expired office lease agreement did not contain any extension options. 

Right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease 
payments made at or before commencement date less any lease incentives received, and any initial 
direct costs. 

Where the terms of a lease require the Group to restore the underlying asset, or the Group has an 
obligation to dismantle and remove a leased asset, a provision is recognised and measured in 
accordance with AASB 137. To the extent that the costs relate to a right-of-use asset, the costs are 
included in the related right-of-use asset. 

Where leases have a term of less than 12 months or relate to low value assets the Group may apply 
exemptions in AASB 16 to not capitalise any such leases and instead recognise the lease payments on 
a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. 

(i)  Impairment of non-financial assets 

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested 
annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they 
might be impaired.  Other assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.  An impairment loss is 
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.  The 
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.  For the 
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are 
separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets 
or groups of assets (cash-generating units).  Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an 
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting period. 

(j)  Cash and cash equivalents 

For statement of cash flows presentation purposes, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, 
deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term highly liquid investments with original 
maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are 
subject to insignificant risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts.  Bank overdrafts are shown within 
borrowings in current liabilities on the statement of financial position. 

(k) Investments and other financial assets 

(i) Classification 

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories: 

 Those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through OCI or through profit or loss); 
and 

 Those to be measured at amortised cost. 

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and the 
contractual terms of the cash flows. 

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For 
investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading, this will depend on whether the Group 
has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to account for the equity investment 
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at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI). All of the Group’s financial assets are 
classified at fair value through profit or loss.  

(ii) Recognition and derecognition 

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on which 
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to 
receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the Group has 
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. 

(iii) Measurement 

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial 
asset not at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL), transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in 
profit or loss. 

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining whether 
their cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest. 

Debt instruments 

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business model for managing 
the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are three measurement categories into 
which the Group classifies its debt instruments: 

 Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash 
flows represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. Interest 
income from these financial assets is included in finance income using the effective interest rate 
method. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly in profit or loss and 
presented in other income or expenses. Impairment losses are presented as a separate line item 
in the statement of profit or loss. 

 FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the financial 
assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, are 
measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount are taken through OCI, except for the 
recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest income and foreign exchange gains and losses 
which are recognised in profit or loss. When the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative 
gain or loss previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and recognised 
in other income or expenses. Interest income from these financial assets is included in finance 
income using the effective interest rate method. Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented 
in other income or expenses and impairment losses are presented as a separate line item in the 
statement of profit or loss. 

 FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A 
gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently measured at FVPL is recognised in profit or 
loss and presented net within other income or expenses in the period in which it arises. 

Equity instruments 

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value. Where the Group’s management 
has elected to present fair value gains and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is no subsequent 
reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss following the derecognition of the 
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investment. Dividends from such investments continue to be recognised in profit or loss as other 
income when the Group’s right to receive payment is established. 

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL are recognised in other income or expenses in the 
statement of profit or loss as applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses) on 
equity investments measured at FVOCI are not reported separately from other changes in fair value. 

Impairment 

The Group assesses, on a forward-looking basis, the expected credit losses associated with its debt 
instruments carried at amortised cost and FVOCI. The impairment methodology depends on whether 
there has been a significant increase in credit risk. 

(l)  Plant and equipment 

All plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation.  Historical cost includes 
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow 
to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  The carrying amount of any component 
accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised when replaced.  All other repairs and maintenance 
are charged to the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income during the reporting 
period in which they are incurred. 

Depreciation of plant and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost 
or revalued amounts, net of their residual values, over their estimated useful lives or, in the case of 
leasehold improvements and certain leased plant and equipment, the shorter lease term.  The rates 
vary between 25% and 50% per annum. 

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting 
date. An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s 
carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 1(i)). Gains and losses on 
disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount.  These are included in the 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 

(m)  Exploration and evaluation costs 

It is the Group’s policy to capitalise the cost of acquiring rights to explore areas of interest. All other 
exploration expenditure is expensed to the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 

The costs of acquisition are carried forward as an asset provided one of the following conditions is met: 

 Such costs are expected to be recouped through the successful development and 
exploitation of the area of interest, or alternatively, by its sale; or 

 Exploration activities in the area of interest have not yet reached a stage which permits 
a reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable 
reserves, and active and significant operations in relation to the area are continuing. 
When the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting a mineral resource 
have been demonstrated then any capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure is 
reclassified as capitalised mine development.  Prior to reclassification, capitalised 
exploration and evaluation expenditure is assessed for impairment. 
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Impairment 

The carrying value of capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure is assessed for impairment at 
the cash generating unit level whenever facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying amount of 
the asset may exceed its recoverable amount. 

An impairment exists when the carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its 
estimated recoverable amount.  Any impairment losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income. 

(n)  Trade and other payables 

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to and unpaid at 
the end of the financial year.  The amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and are paid on normal 
commercial terms. 

(o)  Employee benefits 

Wages and salaries and annual leave 

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, and annual leave expected to be 
settled within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in other payables in respect of employees’ 
services up to the reporting date and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the 
liabilities are settled. 

Other long-term employee benefit obligations 

The group may also have liabilities for long service leave that are not expected to be settled wholly within 
12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service. These 
obligations are therefore measured as the present value of expected future payments to be made in 
respect of services provided by employees up to the end of the reporting period using the projected unit 
credit method. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of 
employee departures and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market 
yields at the end of the reporting period of high-quality corporate bonds with terms and currencies that 
match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. Remeasurements as a result of 
experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are recognised in profit or loss. 

Any such obligations are presented as current liabilities in the balance sheet if the entity does not have 
an unconditional right to defer settlement for at least twelve months after the reporting period, 
regardless of when the actual settlement is expected to occur. 

(p)  Share-based payments 

The Group may provide benefits to employees (including directors) of the Group, and to vendors and 
suppliers, in the form of share-based payment transactions, whereby employees or service providers 
render services, or where vendors sell assets to the Group, in exchange for shares or rights over shares 
(‘equity-settled transactions’), refer to Note 27. 

The cost of these equity-settled transactions in the case of employees is measured by reference to the 
“fair value” (not market value) at the date at which they are granted.  The “fair value” is determined in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards by an internal valuation using a Black-Scholes (or 
other industry accepted) option pricing model for options and by reference to market price for ordinary 
shares.  The Directors do not consider the resultant value as determined by the Black-Scholes European 
Option Pricing Model (or any other model) is necessarily representative of the market value of the share 
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options issued, however, in the absence of a reliable measure of the goods or services received, AASB 2 
Share Based Payments prescribes the measurement of the fair value of the equity instruments granted.  
The Black-Scholes European Option Pricing Model is an industry accepted method of valuing equity 
instruments. 

The cost of remuneration equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding 
increase in equity, over the period in which any performance conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date 
on which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the award (‘vesting date’). The cumulative 
expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until vesting date reflects (i) 
the extent to which the vesting period has expired and (ii) the number of options that, in the opinion of 
the directors of the Group, will ultimately vest.  This opinion is formed based on the best available 
information at balance date.  No adjustment is made for the likelihood of market performance 
conditions being met as the effect of these conditions is included in the determination of fair value at 
grant date. 

No expense is recognised for options that do not ultimately vest, except for options where vesting is 
conditional upon a market condition. 

Where an option is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any 
expense not yet recognised for the option is recognised immediately.  However, if a new option is 
substituted for the cancelled option and designated as a replacement option on the date that it is 
granted, the cancelled and new option are treated as a modification of the original option. 

(q)  Provision for rehabilitation 

The Group records the estimated cost to rehabilitate operating locations in the period in which the 
obligation arises on an undiscounted basis. The nature of rehabilitation activities includes the 
dismantling and removing of structures, rehabilitating mines, dismantling operating facilities, closure 
of plant and waste sites and restoration, reclamation and revegetation of affected areas. 

Typically, the obligation arises when the asset is installed, or the ground/environment is disturbed at 
the production location. When the liability is initially recorded, the value of the estimated cost of 
eventual rehabilitation is capitalised by increasing the carrying amount of the related mining assets. 
Additional disturbances or changes in rehabilitation costs will be recognised as additions or changes 
to the corresponding asset and rehabilitation liability when incurred.  

Costs incurred that relate to an existing condition caused by past operations, and do not have future 
economic benefit, are expensed as incurred. 

(r)  Issued capital 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a 
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.  Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new 
shares or options for the acquisition of a business are not included in the cost of the acquisition as part 
of the purchase consideration. 

(s)  Earnings per share 

(i)  Basic earnings per share 

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to owners of the 
company, excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average 
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number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in 
ordinary shares issued during the year. 

(ii) Diluted earnings per share 

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to 
take into account the after-income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with 
dilutive potential ordinary shares and the weighted average number of shares assumed to have been 
issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential ordinary shares. 

(t)  Goods and Services Tax (GST) 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST 
incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority.  In this case it is recognised as part of the cost 
of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense. Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of 
the amount of GST receivable or payable.  The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the 
taxation authority is included with other receivables or payables in the statement of financial position. 

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis.  The GST components of cash flows arising from investing 
or financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to the taxation authority, are presented 
as operating cash flows. 

(u) Comparative figures 

When required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to 
changes in presentation for the current financial year. 

(v)  Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 

The preparation of these financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates.  
It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s 
accounting policies.  The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where 
assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are: 

Exploration and evaluation costs 

The costs of acquiring rights to explore areas of interest are capitalised, all other exploration and 
evaluation costs are expensed as incurred. 

These costs of acquisition are carried forward only if they relate to an area of interest for which rights of 
tenure are current and in respect of which: (i) such costs are expected to be recouped through 
successful development and exploitation or from sale of area; or (ii) exploration and evaluation 
activities in the area have not yet reached a stage that permits a reasonable assessment of the 
existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves, and active operations in, or relating to, 
the area are continuing.  

When an area of interest is abandoned or the directors decide that it is not commercial, any capitalised 
acquisition costs in respect of that area are written off in the financial year the decision is made. 

Taxation 

Balances disclosed in the financial statements and the notes thereto related to taxation are based on 
the best estimates of the directors.  These estimates consider both the financial performance and 
position of the Group as they pertain to current income taxation legislation, and the directors 
understanding thereof.  No adjustment has been made for pending or future taxation legislation.  The 
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current income tax position represents that directors’ best estimate, pending an assessment by the 
Australian Taxation Office. 

Share-based payments 

Share-based payment transactions, in the form of options to acquire ordinary shares, are valued using 
the Black-Scholes option pricing model or other disclosed recognised methodology applicable and 
appropriate to the instrument and circumstances. These models use assumptions and estimates as 
inputs. 

The Directors do not consider the resultant value as determined by the Black-Scholes European Option 
Pricing Model is necessarily representative of the market value of the share options issued, however, in 
the absence of a reliable measure of the goods or services received, AASB 2 Share Based Payments 
prescribes the measurement of the fair value of the equity instruments granted.  The Black-Scholes 
European Option Pricing Model is an industry accepted method of valuing equity instruments, at the 
date of grant. 

Impairments 

The Group assesses impairment at the end of each reporting period by evaluating conditions and events 
specific to the Group that may be indicative of impairment triggers. Recoverable amounts of relevant 
assets are reassessed using the directors’ best estimate of the asset’s fair value, which can incorporate 
various key assumptions. 

Any amounts in excess of the fair value are impaired, in line with accounting policy disclosures in Notes 
1(i), 1(k) and 1(l). 

Provision for rehabilitation 

The Group assesses its mine rehabilitation and closure provision half-yearly in accordance with 
accounting policy Note 1(q).  Rehabilitation cost provisions are based on security levies/bonds relating 
to the estimation of costs in Mine Management Plans associated with exploration activities that is 
agreed and lodged with the Department of Industry, Tourism and Trade. 

2:   FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, 
interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.  

Risk management is carried out by the full Board of Directors as the Group believes that it is crucial for 
all board members to be involved in this process. 

(a)  Market risk 

(i)  Foreign exchange risk 

The Group does not operate internationally and is therefore not exposed to foreign exchange risk arising 
from various currency exposures 

Foreign exchange risk would arise from future commercial transactions and recognised assets and 
liabilities denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency and net investments in 
foreign operations.  The Group has not formalised a foreign currency risk management policy however, 
it would monitor its foreign currency expenditure in light of exchange rate movements. 
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(ii)  Price risk 

The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk. This arises from investments held by the Group and 
classified in the statement of financial position as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. 
Given the current level of operations, the Group’s financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2024 
are not exposed to commodity price risk. 

To minimise the risk, the Group’s investments are of high quality and are publicly traded on reputable 
international stock exchanges. The investments are managed on a day-to-day basis so as to pick up any 
significant adjustments to market prices. 

Sensitivity analysis 

At 30 June 2024, if the value of the equity instruments had increased by 15% with all other variables held 
constant, post-tax loss for the Group would have been $238,041 lower, with no changes to other equity 
balances, as a result of gains on equity securities classified as financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss (2023: $180,335 lower). 

At 30 June 2024, if the value of the equity instruments had decreased by 15% with all other variables 
held constant, post-tax loss for the Group would have been $238,041 higher, with no changes to other 
equity balances, as a result of losses on equity securities classified as financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss (2023: $180,335 higher). 

(iii)  Interest rate risk 

The Group is exposed to movements in market interest rates on cash and cash equivalents. The Group 
policy is to monitor the interest rate yield curve out to six months to ensure a balance is maintained 
between the liquidity of cash assets and the interest rate return. The entire balance of cash and cash 
equivalents for the Group $1,702,171 (2023: $2,659,333) is subject to interest rate risk. The weighted 
average interest rate received on cash and cash equivalents by the Group was 3.42% (2023: 0.96%). 

Sensitivity analysis 

At 30 June 2024, if interest rates had changed by -10 basis points from the weighted average rate for the 
year with all other variables held constant, post-tax loss for the Group would have been $2,047 higher 
(2023: -10 basis points $3,285 higher) as a result of lower or higher interest income from cash and cash 
equivalents. 

At 30 June 2024, if interest rates had changed by +10 basis points from the weighted average rate for the 
year with all other variables held constant, post-tax loss for the Group would have been $2,047 lower 
(2023: +10 basis points $3,285 lower) as a result of lower or higher interest income from cash and cash 
equivalents. 

(b)  Credit risk 

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk.  The maximum exposure to credit risk at 
balance date is the carrying amount (net of provision for impairment) of those assets as disclosed in the 
statement of financial position and notes to the financial statements. 

All surplus cash holdings within the Group are currently invested with AA- rated financial institutions.  

(c) Liquidity risk 

The Group manages liquidity risk by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and 
ensuring sufficient cash and marketable securities are available to meet the current and future 
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commitments of the Group.  Due to the nature of the Group’s activities, being mineral exploration, the 
Group does not have ready access to credit facilities, with the primary source of funding being equity 
raisings.  The Board of Directors constantly monitor the state of equity markets in conjunction with the 
Group’s current and future funding requirements, with a view to initiating appropriate capital raisings. 

The financial liabilities of the Group are confined to trade and other payables as disclosed in the 
statement of financial position.  All trade and other payables are non-interest bearing and due within 12 
months of the reporting date. 

(d)  Fair value estimation 

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and 
measurement or for disclosure purposes. The equity investments held by the Group are classified at 
fair value through profit or loss. The market value of all equity investments (shares in Aurumin and Tajiri 
Resources) represents the fair value based on quoted prices on active markets (ASX and TSX) as at the 
reporting date without any deduction for transaction costs. These investments are classified as level 1 
financial instruments. 

The carrying amounts and estimated fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are as 
follows: 

  Consolidated 
  2024 2023 
  $ $ 
Financial Assets    
Cash and cash equivalents  1,702,171 2,659,333 
Trade and other receivables  113,564 68,756 
Financial assets*  1,651,942 1,202,231 
Total Financial Assets  3,467,677 3,930,320 
    
Financial Liabilities    
Trade and other payables  112,934 92,514 
Total Financial Liabilities  112,934 92,514 

*Principally including shareholding in Aurumin Ltd at fair value 

The methods and assumptions used to estimate the fair value of financial instruments are outlined 
below: 

Cash 

The carrying amount is fair value due to the liquid nature of these assets. 

Receivables/Payables/Borrowings 

Due to the short-term nature of these financial rights and obligations, their carrying amounts are 
estimated to represent their fair values. 

Fair value measurements of financial assets 

The carrying values of financial assets and liabilities of the Group approximate their fair values. Fair 
values of financial assets and liabilities have been determined for measurement and / or disclosure 
purposes. 
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Fair value hierarchy 

The Group classifies assets and liabilities carried at fair value using a fair value hierarchy that reflects 
the significance of the inputs used in determining that value. The following table analyses financial 
instruments carried at fair value by the valuation method. The different levels in the hierarchy have been 
defined as follows: 

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

Level 2:  inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices); and 

Level 3:  inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable 
inputs). 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
 $ $ $ $ 
30 June 2024     
Financial assets 1,651,942 - - 1,651,942 
Total as at 30 June 2024 1,651,942 - - 1,651,942 
     
30 June 2023     
Financial assets 1,202,231 - - 1,202,231 
Total as at 30 June 2023 1,202,231 - - 1,202,231 

*Principally including shareholding in Aurumin Ltd at fair value 

3:   SEGMENT INFORMATION 

The Group has identified that it operates in only one segment based on the internal reports that are 
reviewed and used by the board of directors (chief operating decision makers) in assessing 
performance and determining the allocation of resources.  The Group's principal activity is the 
identification, acquisition and exploration of mineral assets. 
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  Consolidated 
  2024 2023 
  $ $ 
4:   REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME    
 
Other income    
Interest income  69,976 31,461 
Government exploration grants  - 131,057 
Sale of minor asset  - 677 
  69,976 163,195 
 
5:   EXPENSES    
Loss before income tax includes the following specific 
expenses:    
Defined contribution superannuation expense  44,518 37,236 
Depreciation expenses:    
 Plant and equipment  33,193 31,137 
  77,711 68,373 
 
6:   INCOME TAX    
(a) Income tax expense    

Current tax  - - 

Deferred tax asset/liability  - - 

    
(b) Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to 
prima facie tax payable 

   

Loss from continuing operations before income tax expense  (1,662,093) (5,295,928) 

Prima facie tax expense at the Australian tax rate of 25%  (415,523) (1,323,982) 

Tax effect of non-allowable items:    

End of year accruals  15,857 7,005 

Brought forward accruals  (7,005) (11,209) 

Deferred tax benefit on tax losses not brought to account  406,671 1,328,186 

Income tax attributable to operating loss  -  -  

(c) Unrecognised deferred tax assets 
   

The Group has accumulated tax losses of $21,096,872 (2023: $,19,261,098). 

The potential deferred tax benefit of these losses at the current concessional corporate rate of 25% 
($5,274,218) will only be recognised if: 

(i) The Group derives future assessable income of a nature and of an amount sufficient to enable 
the benefit from the losses and deductions to be realised; 

(ii) The Group continues to comply with the conditions for deductibility imposed by the law; and 
(iii) No changes in tax legislation adversely affects the Group in realising the benefit from the 

deductions for the losses. 
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  Consolidated 
  2024 2023 
  $ $ 

Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June 2024 are fully comprised of $AUD. 

Cash at bank and in hand earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. 

Short-term deposits are made for varying periods of between one day and three months depending on 
the immediate cash requirements of the Group and earn interest at the respective short-term deposit 
rates. 

The Group has provided a cash-backed bank guarantee of $20,760 under the lease of for its office. 

8:   CURRENT ASSETS – TRADE, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS 

Trade Debtors (1)  39,126 16,456 
Prepayments  36,083 52,300 
Other  38,355 - 
  113,564 68,756 
(1) The Group assesses, on a forward-looking basis, the expected credit losses associated with trade debtors. All 

amounts recorded at balance date are considered recoverable in full. 

9:   CURRENT ASSETS – FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 

Canadian listed equity securities  169,600 117,231 

Changes in fair values of financial assets are shown at ‘fair value (losses)/gains on financial assets’ in 
the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. Refer to Note 2 for details of the fair 
value measurement; note the Company sought to but was unable to liquidate this investment. 

  

7:   CURRENT ASSETS - CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

Cash at bank and in hand  301,411 2,618,573 
Short-term deposits  1,400,760 40,760 
Cash and cash equivalents as shown in the statement 
of financial position and the statement of cash flows  1,702,171 2,659,333 

  Consolidated 
  2024 2023 
  $ $ 
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10:   CURRENT ASSET - FINANCIAL ASSETS – AURUMIN LIMITED 

As at the end of the year, Middle Island Resources Limited held a 8.93% fully paid shares equity interest 
in Aurumin Limited.  The Company divested itself of all of the fully paid shares subsequent to year end 
and has therefore shown the asset as a current asset at 30 June 2024. 

11:   NON-CURRENT ASSETS - PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

 
Plant and 

Equipment 
Total 

 $ $ 

Year ended 30 June 2023   
Opening net book amount 81,075 81,075 
Disposals (585) (585) 
Depreciation charge (33,913) (33,913) 
Closing net book amount 46,577 46,577 

At 30 June 2023   
Cost 157,371 157,372 
Accumulated depreciation (110,794) (110,795) 
Net book amount 46,577 46,577 

Year ended 30 June 2024   
Opening net book amount 46,577 46,577 
Purchases 4,211 4,211 
Depreciation charge (33,193) (33,193) 
Closing net book amount 17,595 17,595 

At 30 June 2024   
Cost 161,583 161,583 
Accumulated depreciation (143,988) (143,988) 
Net book amount 17,595 17,595 
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12:   LEASES   
Amounts recognised in the statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income    
The statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income shows the following amounts 
relating to leases:    
 
The Group’s leasing activities 
The Group leased office premises with the lease expiring 30 November 2021. An extension to the lease 
has been negotiated on a monthly basis and has been classified as a short-term lease with the lease 
payments recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. 

The total cash outflow for leases in 2024 was $69,565 (2023: $77,199). 

13:   NON-CURRENT ASSETS – TENEMENT ACQUISITION 
COSTS   
Tenement acquisition costs carried forward in respect 
of mining areas of interest    
Opening net book amount  -  -  
Additions   638,400  -  
Closing net book amount  638,400  -  

14:   CURRENT LIABILITIES - TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

Trade payables  70,458 41,531 
Other payables and accruals  42,476 50,983 
  112,934 92,514 

15:   NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES – PROVISIONS 

Rehabilitation    
Carrying amount at start of year  - - 
Carrying amount at end of year  - - 

The Company currently has no liability in respect of rehabilitation responsibilities. 
  

  Consolidated 
  2024 2023 
  $ $ 
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16:   ISSUED CAPITAL  
(a)  Share capital      
  2024 2023 

  
Number of 

shares $ Number of 
shares $ 

Ordinary shares fully paid  217,854,020 50,332,208 122,418,222 48,611,091 
Total issued capital  217,854,020 50,332,208 122,418,222 48,611,091 
 
(b)  Movements in ordinary share capital 
Beginning of the financial year  122,418,222 48,611,091 122,418,222 48,611,091 
Issue of fully paid ordinary shares to 
acquire tenement project area  18,240,000 638,400 - - 
Issue of fully paid ordinary shares 
pursuant to a non-renounceable 
rights issue  76,995,798 1,154,937 - - 
Exercise of options at $0.015 each  200,000 3,000 - - 
Share issue costs  - (75,020) - - 
End of the financial year  217,854,020 50,332,408 122,418,222 48,611,091 

 

(c)  Movements in options on issue 
 Number of options 
 2024 2023 
Beginning of the financial year - - 
Exercisable at $0.015, expiry 24 May 2025 78,150,735 - 
Less: Exercised (200,000) - 
Exercisable at $0.0225, expiry 31 May 2025 9,300,000 - 
Exercisable at $0.075, expiry 30 November 2026 5,000,000 - 
End of the financial year 92,250,735 - 

(d)  Ordinary shares 
Ordinary fully paid shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up 
of the Company in proportion to the number of the shares held. 

On a show of hands every holder of ordinary fully paid shares, present at a meeting in person or by proxy, 
is entitled to one vote, and, upon a poll, is entitled to one vote for each share held. 

Ordinary shares have no par value, and the Company does not have a limited amount of authorised 
capital. 

(e)  Capital risk management 

The Group’s objectives when managing capital is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, 
so that it may strive to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. 

Due to the nature of the Group’s activities, being mineral exploration, the Group does not have ready 
access to credit facilities, with the primary source of funding being equity raisings. Therefore, the focus 
of the Group’s capital risk management is the current working capital position against the requirements 
of the Group to meet exploration programmes and corporate overheads. The Group’s strategy is to 
strive to ensure appropriate liquidity is maintained to meet anticipated operating requirements, with a 
view to initiating appropriate capital raisings as required. The working capital position of the Group at 
30 June 2024 and 30 June 2023 are as follows: 
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Cash and cash equivalents  1,702,171 2,659,333 
Trade and other receivables  113,564 68,756 
Financial assets  1,586,942 1,202,231 
Trade and other payables  (112,934) (92,514) 
Employee benefits obligations - current  (38,582) (14,464) 
Working capital position  3,251,161 3,823,342 

17:   RESERVES 

(a) Reserves    
Share-based payments reserve Note 27 43,013 -  
  43,013 -  
(b) Nature  and purpose of reserves 
The share-based payments reserve is used to 
recognise the “fair value” of options issued at the 
grant date. 

18:   DIVIDENDS 

No dividends were paid during the financial year. No recommendation for payment of dividends has 
been made. 

19:   REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS 

During the year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditor of the 
Company and their related practices: 

Audit services     
Elderton Audit Pty Ltd – audit and review of financial 
reports 

 
33,746 29,167 

Total remuneration for audit services  33,746 29,167 

20:   CONTINGENCIES 

Other than disclosed elsewhere in this Report, the Company does not have any other contingencies. 

21:   COMMITMENTS 

Exploration expenditure commitments 

In order to maintain current rights of tenure to exploration tenements held in the Northern Territory, 
the Group has certain obligations to perform minimum exploration on the tenements in which it has 
an interest. These obligations may in some circumstances be varied or deferred. Tenement rentals and 
minimum expenditure obligations may be varied or deferred on application and are expected to be met 
in the normal course of business and have not been provided for in the financial report. The minimum 
statutory expenditure commitments required to be spent on the granted tenements for the next twelve 
months amounts to $440,939 (2023: $546,386). 

  Consolidated 
  2024 2023 
  $ $ 

  Consolidated 
  2024 2023 
  $ $ 
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(a) Parent entity 

The ultimate parent entity within the Group is Middle Island Resources Limited. 

(b)  Subsidiaries 

Interests in subsidiaries are set out in Note 23. 

(c)  Key management personnel compensation 

Short-term benefits  532,274 391,855 
Post-employment benefits  39,630 25,745 
Special exertion fees  40,000 60,000 
Share based payments  37,123 - 
  649,027 477,600 

Detailed remuneration disclosures are provided in the remuneration report on pages 14 to 19. 

(d) Transactions and balances with other related parties 

Other than as disclosed in the remuneration report, no directors were paid any other fees during the 
financial year. An amount of $2,200 (incl GST) was owing at year end. 

(e)  Loans to related parties 

Middle Island Resources Limited has provided unsecured, interest free loans to its wholly owned 
subsidiaries, Barkly Operations Pty Ltd and Middle Island (Queensland) Pty Ltd, totalling $3,913,675 at 
30 June 2024 (2023: $2,373,498). An impairment assessment is undertaken each financial year by 
examining the financial position of the subsidiary and the market in which the subsidiary operates to 
determine whether there is objective evidence that the subsidiary is impaired. When such objective 
evidence exists, the Company recognises an allowance for the impairment loss. Total provision for 
impairment against these loans is $101,391 at 30 June 2024 (2023: $101,391) for a net balance of 
$3,812,284 at 30 June 2024 (2023: $2,272,107). 

23:   SUBSIDIARIES 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following 
subsidiaries in accordance with the accounting policy described in Note 1(b): 

Name Country of 
Incorporation 

Class of Shares Equity Holding (1) 

    2024 2023 
    % % 
Barkly Operations Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 100 100 
MDI (Queensland) Pty Ltd – incorporated 
during the year Australia Ordinary 100 Nil 
(1) The proportion of ownership interest is equal to the proportion of voting power held. 

  

22:   RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  Consolidated 
  2024 2023 
  $ $ 
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24:   EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE 

Since the end of the reporting period, MDI has: 

 sold all its fully paid ordinary shares in Aurumin Limited (AUN) for a net amount of $1,440,000. The 
Company retains 5,495,488 unlisted options in AUN (exercise price of 6 cents, expiring 
22 December 2025); and, 

 placed 50M fully paid ordinary shares (New Shares) at 1.5 cents ($0.015) with the placement being 
conducted within the Company’s existing ASX Listing Rule 7.1 and 7.1A placement capacities, 
resulting in a capital raise of $750K (before costs). There is also an expectation that the balance of 
the placement capacities will be placed, raising a further ~$69K. It has been agreed that the lead 
broker will be issued with 10M unlisted options (New Options) once shareholder approval has been 
obtained at the next meeting of shareholders. These New Options will be exercisable at 3.0 cents 
($0.03) each, on or before a date which is two years from their date of issue. The New Shares are 
expected to be issued on or about 8 October. 

25:   STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  Consolidated 
  2024 2023 
  $ $ 
Reconciliation of net loss after income tax to net cash 
outflow from operating activities    
Net loss for the year  (1,662,093) (5,295,928) 
Non-cash items    
Depreciation of non-current assets  33,193 33,250 
Value of free options issued in Aurumin at fair market 
value  (65,000) - 
Share based payments  37,123 - 
Change in operating assets and liabilities:    
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables  (6,453) 145,632 
Decrease/(increase) in financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss  (247,324) 2,919,671 
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables  44,538 (38,812) 
Net cash outflow from operating activities  (1,866,016) (2,236,187) 

26:   LOSS PER SHARE 

(a)  Reconciliation of earnings used in calculating loss 
per share    
Loss attributable to the owners of the Company used in 
calculating basic and diluted loss per share  (1,727,093) (5,295,928) 

   
  Number of shares 

  2024 2023 
(b)  Weighted average number of shares used as the 

denominator    
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used as the 
denominator in calculating basic and diluted loss per 
share   185,925,434 122,418,222 
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(c)  Information on the classification of options 

There are no options on issue which could have a dilutive effect in the calculation of diluted earnings 
per share. 

27:   SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 

(a)  Options issued to employees, contractors, consultants and suppliers 

The Group may provide benefits to employees (including directors if supported by shareholders), 
contractors, consultants and suppliers of the Group in the form of share/equity-based payment 
transactions, whereby ordinary shares or options to acquire ordinary shares are issued as an incentive 
to improve employee and shareholder goal congruence and to facilitate the provision of competitive 
packages.  

The share based payments expense recognised through profit and loss arising from the issue of these 
options are as follows: 

Directors $17,400 
Other KMP $19,723 
Total $37,123 

The share based payments expense recognised through equity arising from the issue of these options are 
as follows: 

Broker $5,890 
Total $5,890 

The options issued during the year were valued using the Black-Scholes European Option Pricing Model 
which is the form recommended under IFRS guidelines using the following option valuation input 
factors: 

Options issued to directors and other KMPs expiring 31.5.2025: 
Volume Weighted Share price for underlying fully paid ordinary Shares – $0.014 
Exercise price – $0.0225 
Term – 1.447 years 
Risk free rate – 4.35% 
Annualised Volatility – 82.49% 
Discount factor due to non-tradeability issues – 20% 
Value per Option – 0.0029 
Options issued to broker expiring 5.6.2025: 
Volume Weighted Share price for underlying fully paid ordinary Shares – $0.0155 
Exercise price – $0.015 
Term – 1.496 years 
Risk free rate – 4.35% 
Annualised Volatility – 81.27% 
Discount factor due to non-tradeability issues – 20% 
Value per Option – 0.0051 
Options issued to CEO expiring 30.11.2026: 
Volume Weighted Share price for underlying fully paid ordinary Shares – $0.014 
Exercise price – $0.075 
Term – 2.948 years 
Risk free rate – 4.35% 
Annualised Volatility – 82.49% 
Discount factor due to non-tradeability issues – 20% 
Value per Option – 0.002 
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Set out below are summaries of the options granted (as 30 June in the stated years): 

(b)  Expenses arising from share-based payment transactions 

No expenses arising from share-based payment transactions other than those detailed above were 
required to be recognised during the year. 

28:   PARENT ENTITY INFORMATION 

The following information relates to the parent entity, Middle Island Resources Limited, at 30 June 2023. 
The information presented here has been prepared using accounting policies consistent with those 
presented in Note 1. 

  2024 2023 
  $ $ 
Current assets  1,919,824 2,699,661 
Non-current assets  5,235,741 3,360,619 
Total assets  7,155,565 6,060,280 
    
Current liabilities  (115,561) (77,796) 
Non-current liabilities  - - 
Total liabilities  (115,561) (77,796) 
    
Contributed equity  50,332,408 48,611,091 
Share-based payments reserve  43,013 - 
Accumulated losses  (43,335,417) (42,628,607) 
Total equity  7,040,004 5,982,484 
    
Profit/(Loss) for the year  (706,810) (3,801,395) 
Total comprehensive loss for the year  (706,810) (3,801,395) 

 Consolidated 
 2024 2023 

 Number of 
options 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price cents 

Number of 
options 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price cents 
Outstanding at the beginning of the 
financial year -  - -  -  
Granted – Renounceable rights issue 76,995,798  0.0127   
Granted – Lead Broker 1,154,937  0.0127 -  -  
Granted – Directors 6,000,000  0.0023 -  -  
Granted – CEO 5,000,000 0.0041   
Granted – CEO and other KMP 3,300,000  0.0023 -  -  
Exercised during the period (200,000) 0.015 -  -  
Outstanding at year-end  92,250,735 0.0491 -  -  

Exercisable at year-end  92,250,735 0.0491 -  -  
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The directors of the Group declare that: 

1. the accompanying consolidated financial statements and notes are in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001 and: 

 (a) comply with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001;  

 (b) give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2024 and performance for 
the year ended on that date of the Group; and 

 (c) the audited remuneration disclosures set out in the Remuneration Report section of the 
Directors’ Report for the year ended 30 June 2024 complies with section 300A of the 
Corporations Act 2001; 

2. the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have both declared pursuant to section 
295A(2) of the Corporations Act 2001 that: 

 (a) the financial records of the company for the financial year have been properly 
maintained in accordance with section 286 of the Corporations Act 2001; 

 (b) the consolidated financial statements and the notes for the financial year comply with 
Australian Accounting Standards;  

 (c) the consolidated financial statements and notes for the financial year give a true and 
fair view; and 

(d) the consolidated entity disclosure statement for the financial year is true and correct. 

3. in the directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Group will be able to 
pay its debts as and when they become due and payable; 

4. the directors have included in the notes to the consolidated financial statements an explicit 
and unreserved statement of compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards; 
and 

5. the consolidated entity disclosure statement is true and correct. 

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors. 

 

Peter Thomas 

Chairperson 

Perth, 30 September 2024 
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Independent Auditors’ Report  

To the members of Middle Island Resources Limited 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial report of Middle Island Resources Limited (the “Company”) and its 
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”), which comprises the consolidated statement of 
financial position as at 30 June 2024, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated 
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including 
material accounting policy information, the consolidated entity disclosure statement and the directors' 
declaration. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations 
Act 2001, including: 

 (i) giving a true and fair view of the Group's financial position as at 30 June 2024 and of its financial 
performance for the year then ended; and 

 (ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described as in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Report section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor 
independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the 
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board's APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (the code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been 
given to the directors of the Company, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the time 
of this auditor's report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in 
our audit of the financial report of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of 
our audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters. We have determined the matters described below to be key audit 
matters to be communicated in our report.  

  

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



 

Page 54 

Financial assets $1,482,343 (2023: $1,085,000)  

Refer to Note 10, accounting policy note 1(k)  

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the matter 

During the financial year 2022 the Group 
acquired 24.15% shares in Aurumin 
Limited as sale consideration for its 
Sandstone project. This investment was 
recorded using equity method under 
AASB 128 Investments in Associates and 
Joint Ventures. In financial year 2023 
due to increase in shares issued by 
Aurumin Limited, the Group’s 
shareholding percentage in Aurumin fell 
below 24.15% to 12.87%, consequently 
Aurumin  Limited was no longer an 
associate, and classified as financial 
assets under AASB 9. The Group’s 
shareholding percentage in Aurumin 
further fell from 12.87% to 8.93% in 
2024. The investment was subsequently 
sold for net proceeds of AUD 1,440,000. 

We considered it as a key audit matter 
due to its significance and use of key 
assumptions in estimating fair value. 

Our audit work included, but was not restricted to, the 
following: 

 

 Verifying Middle Island Resources’ 
percentage holding in Aurumin Limited. 

 Assess the basis of estimating fair value of 
Aurumin Limited shares.    

 Reviewing the adequacy of the disclosure in 
the financial statements. 

 Review subsequent status of investment. 

 

Expenditure  

Refer to total expenditure $2,044,392 accounting policy note 1(m), 1(v) 

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the matter 

Expenditure is a substantial figure in the 
financial statements of the Group, 
representing the majority of shareholder 
funds spent during the financial year. 

 

Given this represents a significant 
volume of transactions, we considered it 
necessary to assess whether the 
Group’s expenses had been accurately 
recorded, whether the services provided 
had been delivered in the appropriate 
period, and whether all expenses related 
to activities undertaken by the Group. 

 

  

Our audit work included, but was not restricted to, the 
following: 

 

 We examined the Group’s approval processes 
in relation to making payments to its suppliers 
and employees. 

 We selected a sample of expenses using 
systematic sampling methods, and vouched 
each item selected to invoices and other 
supporting documentation. 

 We reviewed post-year end payments and 
invoices to ensure that all goods and services 
provided during the financial year were 
recognised in expenses for the same period.  

 For exploration expenses, we assessed which 
tenements the spending related to, to ensure 
funds were expended in relation to the Group’s 
ongoing projects. We also verified tenement 
acquisition costs with contract and checked 
calculations.  

Other Information 
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The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Directors’ 
Report and other information included in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2024 but 
does not include the financial report and our auditor’s report thereon. 

The other information obtained at the date of this auditor’s report is included in the annual report, (but 
does not include the financial report and our auditor’s report thereon). 

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
report, or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information obtained prior to the date of this 
auditor's report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of Directors for the Financial Report 

The directors of the Group are responsible for the preparation of the financial report (other than the 
consolidated entity disclosure statement) that gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and the consolidated entity disclosure statement 
that is true and correct in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal control as 
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report (other than the 
consolidated entity disclosure statement) that gives a true and fair view and is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error and the consolidated entity disclosure statement that is 
true and correct and is free of misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial report. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:  

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk 
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used in the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors. 
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 Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may 
cause the Group to cease to continue as going concern.  

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit. 

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the financial report of the current period and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter 
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.  

Report on the Remuneration Report 

Opinion on the Remuneration Report 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included on pages 14 to 19 of the directors' report for the 
year ended 30 June 2024. 

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Middle Island Resources Limited, for the year ended 30 June 
2024, complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

Responsibilities 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration 
Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express 
an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian 
Auditing Standards. 

Signature of Elderton Audit Pty Ltd noted as having been affixed with approval 
Elderton Audit Pty Ltd 

Signature of Sajjay Cheema noted as having been affixed with approval 
Sajjay Cheema 
Director 

Perth 

30 September 2024 
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Additional information required by Australian Securities Exchange Ltd and not shown elsewhere in this 
report is as follows.  

The information was current as at 18 September 2024.  

Distribution of equity securities 

Analysis of numbers of ordinary shareholders by size of holding: 

Shareholder Name Number of holders 
Number of 

shares 

1 – 1,000 211 94,378 

1,001 – 5,000 509 1,380,618 

5,001 – 10,000 201 1,470,037 

10,001 – 100,000 514 18,510,547 

100,001 and over 227 196,945,107 

Totals 1,662 218,400,687 
 

The number of shareholders holding less than a 
marketable parcel of shares are: 1,235  

Substantial shareholders 

The names of the substantial shareholders listed in the Group’s register as at 18 September 2024 as 
required to be notified in accordance with section 671B of the Corporations Act 2001, are: 

 

Shareholder Name 
Number of 

Shares 

% of Issued 
Share 

Capital 

Stephen Copulos Group 40,730,930 18.65 

Strategic Energy Resources Ltd 18,240,000 8.35 

Total 58,970,930 27.00 

Twenty largest shareholders – Quoted fully paid ordinary shares (ASX:MDI): 

 

Shareholder Name 
Number of 

Shares 

% of 
Issued 
Share 

Capital 

1. Copulos Group 40,730,930 18.65 

2. Strategic Energy Resources Ltd 18,240,000 8.35 

3. 7 Enterprises Pty Ltd 10,500,000 4.81 

4. Jetosea Pty Ltd 7,282,114 3.33 
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5. HSBC Custody Nominees Pty Ltd 5,726,398 2.62 

6. HSBC Custody Nominees Pty Ltd <ST A/c> 5,660,688 2.59 

7. Northern Griffin Pty Ltd 4,818,099 2.21 

8. Super Seed Pty Ltd <The Seed Family A/c> 4,713,524 2.16 

9. Craig Manners 3,550,000 1.63 

10. 
BNP Paribas Nominees Pty Ltd 
Citicorp Nominees Pty Ltd 

3,452,153 1.58 

11. Quenda Investments Pty Ltd 3,380,436 1.55 

12. Bachilton Pty Ltd <S I Family A/c> 3,300,000 1.51 

13. Scintilla Capital Pty Ltd 3,000,000 1.37 

14. Rockharp Capital Pty Ltd 2,711,483 1.24 

15. Andre Nicholas Marschke 2,500,000 1.14 

16. Callum Benedict McIntosh 2,050,422 0.94 

17. Fry Super Pty Ltd 2,000,000 0.92 

18. Ji Yong Huang 2,000,000 0.92 

19. John Williams Rogers 2,000,000 0.92 

20. Marian Voinea 1,800,000 0.82 

 Total 129,416,247 59.26 

Twenty largest option holders – Unquoted options(ASX:MDIAX): 

 

Shareholder Name 
Number of 

Options 

% of 
Issued 

Class of 
Options 

1. Copulos Group 17,535,123 22.47 

2. Jetosea Pty Ltd 5,000,000 6.41 

3. 
Mattew Burford Super Fund Pty Ltd <Burford 
Superfund A/c> 3,000,000 3.84 

4. Techinvest Holdings Pty Ltd <ANM A/c> 2,866,667 3.67 

5. 
HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited <ST 
A/c> 2,830,344 3.63 

6. Rookharp Capital Pty Ltd 2,711,483 3.47 

7. Craig Manners 2,050,000 2.63 

8. Rabia Yigit 2,000,000 2.56 

9. Scintilla Capital Pty Ltd 1,933,334 2.48 

10. Peter Thomas Group 1,645,164 2.11 
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11. Mahe Investments Pty Ltd 1,610,809 2.06 

12. Citicorp Nominees Pty Ltd 1,500,094 1.92 

13. Super Seed Pty Ltd <The Seed Family A/c> 1,500,000 1.92 

14. 
BNP Paribas Nominees Pty Ltd <IB AU Noms 
RetailClient> 1,207,501 1.55 

15. 
BNP Paribas Nominees Pty Ltd <ACF 
Clearstream A/c> 1,138,044 1.46 

16. Bachilton Pty Ltd <SI Family A/c> 1,100,000 1.41 

17. Sabia Holdings Pty Ltd 1,015,000 1.30 

18. Riya Investments Pty Ltd 1,012,500 1.30 

19. Jason Tang 1,000,000 1.28 

20. 3M Holdings Pty Ltd <3M Investment Spec A/c> 813,445 1.04 

 Total 53,469,508 68.51 

All option holders – Unquoted options (ASX:MDIAZ): 

 

Shareholder Name 
Number of 

Options 

% of 
Issued 

Class of 
Options 

1. Peter Thomas 2,000,000 21.51 

2. B Marwood Co Pty Ltd 2,000,000 21.51 

3. Bachilton <SI Family A/c> 2,000,000 21.51 

4. Roland Dieter Bartsch 2,000,000 21.51 

5. RABMB Pty Ltd <R and A Tieleman Super A/c> 1,300,000 13.98 

 Total 9,300,000 100.00 

All option holders – Unquoted options (ASX:MDIAY): 

 

Shareholder Name 
Number of 

Options 

% of 
Issued 

Class of 
Options 

1. Roland Dieter Bartsch 5,000,000 100.00 

 Total 5,000,000 100.00 
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Summary of Issued Securities: 

The following securities are on issue: 

218,400,687 quoted fully paid ordinary shares (ASX:MDI); 

77,404,068 unquoted options to acquire fully paid ordinary shares at $0.015 each on or before 
24.5.2025; 

9,300,000 unquoted options to acquire fully paid ordinary shares at $0.0225 each on or before 
31.5.2025; and 

5,000,000 unquoted options to acquire fully paid ordinary shares at $0.075 each on or before 
30.11.2026. 

None of the options are listed on Australian Securities Exchange.  

Buy-Back Plans 

The Group does not have any current on-market buy-back plans. 

Voting Rights 

The voting rights attaching to ordinary shares are governed by the Constitution. On a show of hands every 
person present who is a Member or representative of a member shall have one vote and, on a poll, every 
member present in person or by proxy or by attorney or duly authorised representative shall have one vote 
for each fully paid ordinary share held.  

None of the options have any voting rights. 

ASX Listing Rule 3.13.1 

The Company advises, in accordance with ASX Listing Rule 3.13.1, that its Annual General Meeting 
(AGM); an item of business which will include the election of directors) is proposed to be held on 
18 November 2024 and based on this proposed AGM date, in accordance with the Company’s 
constitution, the closing date for receipt of valid nominations from persons wishing to be considered for 
election as a director at the AGM will be 6 October 2024. 
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(g)  Schedule of interests in mining tenements 

Location Tenement Percentage held and 
status 

Northern Territory:  
Barkly EL32109 100% - Granted 
Barkly EL32290 100% - Granted 
Barkly EL32291 100% - Granted 
Barkly EL32292 100% - Granted 
Barkly EL32304 100% - Granted 
Barkly EL32305 100% - Granted 
Barkly EL32617 100% - Granted 
Barkly EL32626 100% - Application 
Barkly EL32627 100% - Application 
Barkly EL32680 100% - Granted 
Barkly EL32760 100% - Granted 
Barkly EL33276 100% - Granted 
Barkly EL33585 100% - Granted 
Barkly EL33588 100% - Granted 

Amalgamation of 
EL32309 and EL33507 

Barkly EL33589 100% - Granted 
Amalgamation of 

EL32307 and EL32308 
Barkly EL33590 100% - Granted 

Amalgamation of 
El32301 and EL32816 

   
Queensland:   

 EPM29008 100% - Granted 
 EPM29009 100% - Application 
 EPM29010 100% - Application 
 EPM29011 100% - Granted 
 EPM29012 100% - Application 
 EPM29013 100% - Application 
 EPM29014 100% - Application 
 EPM29015 100% - Application 
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